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            PHOTOGRAPH PERMISSIONS

         

         I am grateful to the Hewson family for allowing me to reproduce the photographs of Rothay Reynolds, his parents and siblings. Also included are three photographs taken by Anthony Hewson in 1938 during his visit to Reynolds in Berlin. All photos appear by permission of the Hewson family unless the source is otherwise mentioned.

      

   


   
      

         
            A NOTE ON NEWSPAPERS

         

         
            “For providing information about events, none were better placed than newspaper correspondents. Wherever was excitement, there were they. They raced about the world in search of what was most urgent, most timely; interviewed the great, and witnessed the stuff of headlines. Inside information was at their disposal, and on their typewriters they played each day’s tumult. Like bloodhounds following a scent, they carried news, a ravening pack. Trains, aeroplanes, motor-cars, carried them to the scene of all disasters; war and rumours of wars set them in motion.”1

            
                

            

            THE THIRTIES, MALCOLM MUGGERIDGE

         

         The 1930s has been described as the golden age of newspapers in Great Britain. In a world before television, with radio in its infancy, newspapers were the predominant means by which everyday men and women could learn news of the outside world. Newspapers were more trusted than they are now (whether or not that trust was justified is a separate question). There were scores of them – in 1938 fifty-two morning, eighty-five evening and eighteen Sunday newspapers were printed in the United Kingdom. In deciding which newspapers to focus on, this book follows the lead of Frank Gannon, whose 1971 study The British Press and Germany, 1936–1939 prioritises what he calls the ‘major’ newspapers. These comprised seven national dailies, two important Sunday papers and the Manchester Guardian, which had an influence and reach far beyond its status as a regional paper. A short guide to the ten titles, which are listed below, follows at the end of the book.

         
            Daily Express

            Daily Herald

            Daily Mail

            Daily Telegraph

            Manchester Guardian

            Morning Post

            News Chronicle

            The Observer

            Sunday Times

            The Times

         

      

   


   
      

         
            CAST OF CORRESPONDENTS

         

         A mass of dramatis personae feature in the narrative that follows. But at the heart of this story are the unique band of men and women who, like Rothay Reynolds, were working for British newspapers in Europe. What these correspondents experienced in Berlin and other continental cities, and the resulting dispatches they sent back to London, are of prime importance. This is a short guide to their roles.

         
            Vernon Bartlett: News Chronicle correspondent, roving role.

            Paul Bretherton: Daily Mail correspondent, roving role.

            Harold Cardozo: Daily Mail correspondent in Paris.

            Ian Colvin: Morning Post and later News Chronicle correspondent.

            Sefton ‘Tom’ Delmer: Daily Express chief foreign correspondent.

            Norman Ebbutt: The Times correspondent in Berlin.

            Eric Gedye: Daily Telegraph correspondent in Vienna, later New York Times.

            Shiela Grant Duff: Observer correspondent during Saar plebiscite.

            Hugh Carleton Greene: Daily Telegraph assistant and later correspondent in Berlin.

            H. D. Harrison: News Chronicle correspondent in Belgrade, later Berlin.

            James Holburn: Times assistant and then correspondent in Berlin.

            Ralph Izzard: Daily Mail assistant in Berlin, later Germany bureau chief.

            Wallace King: Daily Herald correspondent in Berlin.

            Charles Lambert: Manchester Guardian correspondent in Berlin.

            Iverach McDonald: Times reporter in Berlin and elsewhere.

            Noel Monks: Daily Express journalist in Berlin and elsewhere.

            H. H. Munro (Saki): Morning Post foreign correspondent.

            Noel Panter: Daily Telegraph Munich correspondent.

            Selkirk Panton: Daily Express reporter in Vienna and Berlin.

            G. Ward Price: Daily Mail’s chief foreign correspondent.

            Douglas Reed: Times correspondent in Vienna, later joined News Chronicle.

            Rothay Reynolds: Daily News correspondent in St Petersburg, Daily Mail Berlin bureau chief, Daily Telegraph Rome correspondent.

            Karl Robson: Morning Post correspondent in Berlin.

            John Segrue: News Chronicle correspondent in Berlin.

            Philip Pembroke Stephens: Daily Express correspondent in Berlin.

            Frederick Voigt: Manchester Guardian correspondent in Berlin, then Paris, then diplomatic correspondent.

            Eustace Wareing: Daily Telegraph correspondent in Berlin.

         

      

   


   
      

         
            - PROLOGUE -

            DEATH OF A CORRESPONDENT
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                  Photo portrait of Rothay Reynolds, late 1930s.

               

            

         

         It was high summer in Jerusalem and growing uncomfortably hot for the small congregation gathered at the church. Many in attendance were English and unused to such heat, even after living in the city for several years. It was August 1940 and Britain’s League of Nations mandate to govern Palestine had been in force for two decades. Almost a year into a new war with Germany, minds drifted increasingly to friends and relatives at home. Palestine’s future remained a headache for leaders in London, who regarded it as a distraction during a tumultuous period. But the British mandate remained, forcing them to stay.

         The metal cross at the altar was too hot to touch; even the ancient stone walls had warmth. A dress code of formal wear made matters worse in the heat and the handful present shifted uneasily in their pews. Oddly, they were at the church for the funeral of a man they had met just weeks before. Among them was the chief surgeon at the government hospital, who had not been able to save him. A group of British nurses had sent a wreath of flowers.

         It was the funeral of a 67-year-old Englishman named Rothay Reynolds. He would not have come to Jerusalem had it not been for the war – one of the many individuals displaced amid the chaos. For reasons few of them knew, Reynolds had made the long and hard journey from Italy, an exhausting month-long trip that took its toll on his health. He was in a weak state when he arrived in the ancient city, and it worsened when he contracted malaria. A few days later he caught pneumonia and finally succumbed.2

         A door creaked slowly open and Reynolds’s coffin came forward, draped in the Union flag. British military police acted as pall-bearers and bore him to the front of the church for a service officiated by a Franciscan friar in a flowing brown tunic. It was a fittingly sacred end for Reynolds who, in his younger years, had been ordained an Anglican priest before converting to Catholicism. ‘He is the sort of person who would be glad to die in Jerusalem,’ wrote a friend back in Britain. After the service he was laid to rest in the Roman Catholic cemetery on the side of Mount Zion. ‘In fact, one can’t feel sorry for him in any way; his life was so full and so good,’ the friend said. ‘One can only feel sorry that one will never see him again.’3

         But who was he? The congregation in Jerusalem had dutifully given Reynolds a fine send-off, despite not knowing much about him. It was a typically English act in honour of a man who had ventured into their quasi-outpost of the British Empire and met his end. The people who knew him, relatives and friends at home, were forced to mourn his passing from afar. The congregation guessed Reynolds was an interesting man – to travel as far as Jerusalem in the middle of a new world war was no easy feat – but they had little inkling of his startling background.

         Obituaries published in Britain gave some idea. They revealed that Reynolds was one of the best-travelled foreign correspondents of the era. As chief of the Daily Mail newspaper’s Berlin office between the wars he had known Adolf Hitler personally, and had chronicled his rise to power. He first met the Nazi leader in 1923 and interviewed him several times in the years that followed. Reynolds, who in his final days had struck the small band of mourners as an ageing, nomadic and slightly peculiar individual, was more significant than they knew.

         Old friends in the press ensured readers in Britain were made aware of his significance. The day after the funeral, six journalists, including correspondents for the Manchester Guardian and United Press of America, sent the following joint letter to the editor of the Daily Telegraph, the last paper to have employed him.

         
            A number of colleagues who worked abroad with the late Rothay Reynolds of your staff would like to add their tribute to the memory of a man who was for many years the doyen of the British newspapers in Berlin. We would like to lay stress upon his utter fearlessness. He never feared to stand up to Nazi officials, however much they blustered, and he always retained a suavity and dignity which almost invariably won the day. He refused to be muzzled and his direct, accurate descriptions of events in Germany must have caused the Nazis great displeasure.

            Reynolds was a man of great personal charm, widely read and deeply cultured. He was famous throughout a continent for his elegant hospitality and his kindliness. He began life abroad as a chaplain to the embassy church in St Petersburg, and although he left Holy Orders on his conversion to Roman Catholicism, he always retained something of the priestly attitude to life. Hundreds of victims of Nazi persecution and terror received from him material and moral support in an uneven fight with an evil system.4

         

         Other public tributes followed. ‘He was one of the few British journalists who had the foresight to interest themselves in the Nazi movement at a time when it seemed quite off the map,’ was the verdict of an obituary in The Times. ‘He never had any doubt of what Nazism meant for Europe.’5 Some saluted him in private. Frank Foley, an MI6 spy who had used his cover as the Berlin Passport Control Officer to help thousands of Jews flee Germany, wrote in sorrow to Kathleen, a sister of Reynolds. ‘I am very sorry indeed to hear of your brother’s death in Jerusalem and I know that every member of the British colony in Berlin and everyone who knew him will share in your grief.’6

         Time passed and minds shifted elsewhere. The death of a foreign correspondent was worthy of some attention, but other matters pressed; a war was on and the fate of Britain hung in the balance. Reynolds had no children to ensure the details of his remarkable life were safeguarded. In the years after his death, his three surviving siblings – Ronald, Kathleen and Marjorie – passed away. None had married or left children. The story of their brother and his role in the interwar years remained untold.
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         It all began with a letter. During research into our family history, my mother had found a yellowing, type-written letter sent by Rothay Reynolds to his second-cousin, Cuthbert Reynolds. The two men had been of similar age and Rothay was godfather to Cuthbert’s eldest son, Lionel. It had been written just before Christmas in 1939, shortly ahead of his final departure from Britain.

         The letter provides a fascinating insight into Reynolds’s state of mind. He recounts how he had returned from Berlin at the start of 1939 to live in Cambridge and write a book about his time in Germany. The result was When Freedom Shrieked, which was published in November 1939 and revealed the truth about life under the Nazis. ‘It was the best contribution I could make to our cause,’ Reynolds said in the letter. He reveals his anger at the Munich Agreement of 1938, when Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain’s British government struck a deal with Germany that fatally undermined Czechoslovakia. He left Berlin a few months afterwards. ‘It was good to get away, for after Munich I hardly cared to look a German in the face. It was the first time that I was not proud of being an Englishman,’ Reynolds wrote.

         The letter has always fascinated me. It is a thrilling document of history and reveals in stark terms the thoughts of a man who had witnessed momentous events. Cuthbert was my great-grandfather, but he died years before I was born. My mother and I were captivated by the story of our relation, Rothay Reynolds. Why was more not known about this intriguing man, who appears to have witnessed so much and yet been forgotten?

         Again, time passed. We remained fascinated by Reynolds, but other distractions took priority. I completed my degree and began my own career in journalism. He remained at the back of my mind. Then, after a few years of reporting in London and New York, my interest in him suddenly revived. Perhaps it was the dry nature of what I was writing about – the ups and downs of the global hedge fund industry – that made me appreciate how interesting Rothay Reynolds’s career had been. He had met Hitler many times and interviewed Nazi leaders. He had fled Rome and travelled to Jerusalem during a world war. And these were just the things we knew about. What other incredible stories had he reported on? What events had he witnessed?

         My mind was set. After returning to London from New York in February 2014, I decided to pursue a story very different from my usual articles about the world of banks and high finance. I began collecting all the information I could find about Reynolds’s life. I visited Berlin, St Petersburg, Vilnius and Warsaw to retrace his footsteps in the cities in which he had worked as a foreign correspondent. I spent days in the British Library’s ‘Newsroom’ archive to read the reports he had written for the Daily Mail. I tracked down two men, both in their mid-nineties, who had known Reynolds personally. It became an obsession.

         The more I learned about Reynolds the more hooked I became on the idea of telling his story. From an early career in the church to working all over Europe as a foreign correspondent, the many adventures of Reynolds’s life became more and more clear. One part stood out from the rest. His time in Berlin, living first in the Weimar Republic and then under Nazi rule, put him at the epicentre of a unique moment in history. As one of the first foreign correspondents to interview Hitler, he had a place in history all of his own.

         The story that emerged was not a straightforward one. He had worked in Berlin for the populist Daily Mail, which had been a vocal supporter of Hitler in the 1930s. The newspaper’s owner Lord Rothermere had been a fervent admirer of the dictator, which made it almost impossible for its correspondents to report accurately on the horrors of life in Germany. Reynolds ‘struggled hard to fulfil the difficult task of being Berlin correspondent of Lord Rothermere’s Daily Mail,’ according to Douglas Reed, one of his friends in the European press pack.7 But some correspondents at the Mail, including its star foreign correspondent G. Ward Price, appeared to share the proprietor’s support for Hitler. Many British newspaper owners and journalists, as well as politicians and aristocrats, supported Hitler during the 1930s. They agreed with him that Germany had been wronged by the Treaty of Versailles and supported his economic reforms. Where did Reynolds’s sympathies lie?

         The idea behind this book originated as the tale of one man, but the story soon broadened in scope. Reynolds was seen as the ‘doyen’ of British newspaper reporters in Nazi Berlin, but many other talented foreign correspondents from the UK worked in similarly difficult conditions. The story of Reynolds, caught between Hitler and a press baron eager to maintain good relations with Germany, was their story too. What had started as a biography of Reynolds expanded to incorporate some of their tales and describe the conditions faced by journalists reporting on Hitler. Rivals and friends, such as Norman Ebbutt of The Times, had to contend not only with the controlling propaganda machine of Joseph Goebbels, but also the fact that many newspaper proprietors in Britain supported Hitler and happily shut their eyes to the increasingly awful truth of life in Germany. Reynolds did his best, but not until he left the Daily Mail and published When Freedom Shrieked could he reveal his true feelings about the regime.

         After Reynolds died, he left his prized collection of books to Prinknash Abbey in Gloucestershire, which houses an order of Benedictine monks with whom he felt a strong spiritual bond. He is still thought of fondly at Prinknash. The archivist there, Aelred Baker, was one of many men and women who have helped me tell this story. They are thanked in the acknowledgements section at the end of the book, though any mistakes in what follows are my responsibility. ‘He is worthy of remembrance,’ Baker wrote about Reynolds in a 2004 article. The more I read and learned about him the plainer this fact became. This book is an attempt to tell his untold story, as well as recognise the efforts of a band of journalists working in unimaginably difficult circumstances.

      

   


   
      

         
            - CHAPTER I -

            THE RESTIVE CURATE

         

         The fate of Sydenham, like many other areas of the UK, was changed forever in the nineteenth century by the arrival of a railway station. This revolutionary development came just a few years into Queen Victoria’s reign and transformed the peaceful area, which is now one of south London’s many bustling and interconnected urban centres. A full six miles south of the River Thames, two centuries ago it felt veritably remote.

         The emerging rail network was just one of the changes sweeping London as the UK became the world’s first industrial society. Not everyone was happy about the transformation. ‘Before Sydenham became so much built over this was a very lovely spot,’ wrote Joseph Edwards, a resident of the area in 1866. ‘In those days no gas lamps lit the place at night, nor any drainage made the little stream offensive.’8

         Edwards was irritated that sleepy Sydenham was not protected from change as huge population growth transformed London. His problems were far from over – a new neighbour soon arrived whose career choice irked him further. Frederick Reynolds, the son of a Gloucester ironmonger, was one of those incomers helping to reshape the city. A young businessman on the make, he viewed the industrial revolution as a path to riches, and modern advances as a source of wealth rather than irritation. Reynolds made his money as director of the London Electric Lighting Company, which expanded coverage of street lighting throughout the capital.

         Reynolds arrived in Sydenham near the start of his career. Though it took several years for his new neighbour to make his money, Edwards no doubt fumed at his efforts. Firmly built with a thick, dark beard and a hairline already receding from the front, the budding entrepreneur made his home at Rothay House, a large, detached abode backing onto the London to Brighton train line. In 1871 he married Dora, a south Londoner from the nearby area of Gipsy Hill. She was two years his senior with mid-length dark hair and a slightly severe-looking face.
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               Rothay’s father, Frederick Reynolds, was the son of a Gloucester ironmonger and made a fortune installing London’s first electric streetlights. Frederick’s wife, Dora Reynolds, gave birth to their first child in the family home of Rothay House in 1872. Rothay preferred to use his middle name rather than his first name, Alfred.

            

         

         A year later the pair, both in their twenties, had their first child. Alfred Rothay Reynolds was born in the family home on 17 September 1872. He was named Alfred after his maternal grandfather while his middle name stems from the name of the house. The story of how the house acquired this unusual name is lost, but it was taken up with enthusiasm by their firstborn. Alfred was used for formal occasions but most of the time the boy was called Rothay – or Roy, to members of his family.

         He was born at a time of change for the country as well as London. In the 1870s the British Empire was approaching its zenith, with the pink ink of empire colouring large swathes of the world map. India had been part of the empire for fourteen years in 1872 and Queen Victoria still had almost three decades remaining on the throne.9 The great liberal politician William Gladstone had begun the first of his four spells as Prime Minister, while Benjamin Disraeli dominated for the Conservatives. Victorian Britain was the pre-eminent global power and the London of Reynolds’s birth was its beating heart.

         Home life was comfortable throughout his childhood. Rothay House, which no longer stands, was in the affluent Peak Hill area of Sydenham. There was a lot of green space and it was peaceful by the standards of today’s traffic-filled world, even if residents such as Edwards were uncomfortable with the changes. By the time Reynolds was nine he had been joined by a sister and brother, Kathleen and Leslie, and two more would follow, Ronald and Marjorie. Four of the five siblings lived to old age, testament to the healthy upbringing Dora and Frederick could provide in an era when many childhoods were spent in employment rather than education. The home was staffed by three servants – a cook, housemaid and nurse – to help Dora with domestic matters.

         The family was deeply religious. The children were brought up as devout Anglo-Catholics and Rothay felt the draw of faith keenly. Anglo-Catholicism is a branch of Christianity that grew in popularity in the nineteenth century and found followers such as the author T. S. Eliot in the twentieth. Its believers are Anglicans but, as the name indicates, their faith is closely based on traditions and practices that pre-date the Reformation. While a religious upbringing was far from uncommon at the time, Reynolds’s branch of faith was slightly unusual.

         Rothay House may have provided a name for their firstborn, but the Reynolds parents deemed it insufficient to cope with the demands of their growing family. In 1883, the year Rothay turned eleven, the Reynolds moved to Blomfield House in Bromley, a district of south London to the southeast of Sydenham. Unlike Reynolds’s birthplace, the house in Bromley still stands.10 Long since converted into separate flats, it is a grand, though in some ways ramshackle, Victorian mansion and would have been a fitting home for a large family and its household staff. It had an important additional benefit: from the top floor of Blomfield House, Frederick observed neighbouring parts of London and assessed whether the streetlights he had helped install were working. On some nights his children would hear exasperated shouts from upstairs, quickly followed by a slamming door as their father left to address technical problems in other parts of the city.11

         By 1892 Frederick’s business had installed 360 public street lamps and was providing current to many more, as well as about 16,000 lamps for private customers. A fundraising advert in the Pall Mall Gazette said additional shareholder investment would help the London Electric Lighting Company provide current to 150,000 more private lamps.12 It was a business on the up and proved the making of Frederick Reynolds. Later in life it led to political access and civic prestige. A photo exists of him standing outside Downing Street next to Herbert Asquith, Britain’s Prime Minister between 1908 and 1916. Frederick Reynolds was also appointed Justice of the Peace, a mark of his position as a respected elder citizen.

         Frederick took a close interest in how his children were brought up. Rothay was a small, mild-mannered child with light brown hair. His education started with a governess who made a lasting impression – years later he recalled awkwardly learning to play the piano as a child while a patient governess named Miss Fuller counted time.13 Private tutors were employed when Reynolds was a little older, at the age of about eleven, to school him at home in the sciences and arts.14 At the age of fifteen Reynolds was briefly enrolled at Dulwich College, an illustrious all-male public school in south London with a history dating back to 1619. His attendance demonstrates the wealth his family had acquired by that point, which allowed Reynolds to be educated with children of the elite, some of whom would become leading figures of the age. The Antarctic explorer Ernest Shackleton and the creator of Jeeves the Butler, P. G. Wodehouse, who edited the school magazine, were both in attendance there at a similar time.15 Another writer, Raymond Chandler, the author of thrillers and detective books, was educated at Dulwich a few years later. Reynolds studied an engineering curriculum focused on the sciences and learned thermodynamics from the working steam engine operated in the school’s basement.16

         A flair for languages quickly emerged. Class lists reveal Reynolds was middling in all subjects except French, where he was ranked top of a class of twenty-three. He would remain a deft linguist throughout his life, speaking Russian, French, German, Polish and some Italian. His education in the classics also stayed with him – in a letter written years later he used an idiom from Greek mythology to describe how an awkward predicament had left him between Scylla and Charybdis.
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               Rothay pictured as a baby in the 1870s.
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               Rothay as a boy in the late 1870s.

            

         

         Wodehouse remembered his time at Dulwich as ‘six years of unbroken bliss’, but for Reynolds it was not to last. He studied in the summer and Christmas terms of 1888 before leaving unexpectedly. No evidence survives to explain the sudden departure. Whatever caused it, Frederick does not seem to have maintained a grudge against England’s public school system. Ronald, a decade younger than Rothay, was sent to Malvern College, a public school in Worcestershire, for four years at the end of the 1890s.17

         Reynolds continued his education with tutor friends of his father. He was a studious child and the spell at Dulwich, though short, helped with his learning. The family was tightly knit and the siblings remained close throughout their lives; later in life the four surviving brothers and sisters lived together in a house in Cambridge. Reynolds’s great affection for his parents is evident from the poem he dedicated to them at the beginning of his first book, published years later. ‘To my Father and Mother,’ he wrote, followed by a sonnet which begins:

         
            
               My gondola adventures to the sea.

               I stand and hear the plash of falling spray

               Grow fainter, as the high prow glides away

               Upon the summer waves’ uncertainty

            

         

         The romantic verse, which evoked a sense of seaborne adventure, is the sole surviving example of his own poetry. In it, Reynolds may have been harking back to an earlier voyage taken with his parents. Frederick and Dora took Rothay, Leslie and Kathleen on holiday to Dublin in 1894, travelling on a Royal Mail passenger steamship.18 Ronald and Marjorie were judged too young to make the trip. The Reynolds children were often taken on trips around Britain and to nearer parts of Europe, instilling a love of travel that led several of them to live abroad in later life.

         Religion would prove central to the first important decisions Reynolds made in life. His interest in religious ideas from an early age led him to pursue theological studies and at the age of twenty he won a place to study divinity at Cambridge. He moved there in the autumn of 1892, beginning a connection with the university city that remained with him throughout his life. Reynolds studied at Pembroke, founded in 1347 and one of the university’s oldest colleges. Pembroke is home to the first college chapel built in Cambridge, which seems fitting given Reynolds’s choice of course.

         Reynolds adjusted quickly to life in Cambridge and was inspired by its famed libraries and ancient lanes. The peaceful and relaxed environment of Pembroke College and its grounds was a perfect place in which to study and think about his future. His surroundings were striking: from the Sir Christopher Wren-designed chapel to the grand and imposing library, Reynolds got a taste for fine architecture that remained with him. Whether living among the onion domes of Tsarist Russia or the wide, Swastika-lined boulevards of Nazi Berlin, the tranquil squares of Cambridge were never far from his mind.

         Among his teachers were two leading theological scholars, Henry Swete and Herbert Ryle. Swete was appointed Regius Professor of Divinity at Cambridge in 1890 and was popular with students, delivering the best-attended lectures in the faculty. Despite internal opposition to his appointment initially, he served in the role for twenty-five years.19 Ryle was Hulsean Professor of Divinity at Cambridge before later becoming Dean of Westminster. He took on the latter position in 1911 when preparations were underway for the coronation of George V at Westminster Abbey. Serving in the role during the war, he was responsible for many special services to mark particular battles and events overseas.20

         Both Ryle and Swete recommended Reynolds for his next move after Cambridge: a career in the church. His three years of religious study confirmed in his mind the decision. In light of his strong childhood faith, it was unlikely to have surprised his family. He turned twenty-three in 1895, the year he graduated, and wasted no time in pursuing his calling. In August he enrolled at the Clergy School in Leeds for nine months of ‘instruction in pastoral theology’ and ‘practical training in parochial work’.

         During the process, fellows from his old college, Pembroke, wrote a letter to the Lord Bishop of Durham to testify to Reynolds’s learning and suitability for a life in the church. They said he lived ‘piously, soberly and honestly’ while at Cambridge and had never held beliefs ‘contrary to the doctrine and discipline of the Church of England’. Their support was absolute. ‘We believe him to be a person worthy to be admitted to the sacred office of deacon.’21

         Notions of unity and support for the weak lay at the heart of Reynolds’s belief. A letter he wrote later in life provides a clue to this. He used a passage on religion written by one of his ancestors in the eighteenth century to explain his faith to others. ‘My children,’ the excerpt begins:

         
            I entreat you to live in unity and love with one another and help one another if it is needed. If any of you should be poor in this world and God should give any of you riches, you that are strong, help those that are weak. Stick close as a family and the God of Heaven will bless you.22

         

         His training for the deaconship in Leeds culminated in his ordination at a special service at Durham Cathedral held in May 1896.23 As Reynolds listened to a sermon in the grand surroundings of the cathedral, his religious path was mapped out. He would spend the next year as curate of St Hilda’s, a parish in the northern city of Darlington, the last stage before he could be ordained a priest. He lived a humble existence, surviving on a stipend of one hundred pounds for the year, no more than £7,000 in today’s money. He was ordained as a priest in another service at Durham in 1897 at the age of just twenty-four. Reynolds was young, but appears to have had no doubts about his future.
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         On the last day of August in 1897 Reynolds was sitting at his desk in Darlington. The young curate was struggling over a letter he was writing to a clergyman in another part of the country. He had never met Reverend John Green but had heard about his plans to form a community of monks who would go into the world to help the poor and lost souls of society find meaning in a religious life. Green, a Cistercian monk in Gloucestershire, was searching for young men who might be interested in helping him with this work, and had contacted Reynolds via a mutual friend.

         Reynolds’s letter to Green survives today deep inside a battered chest of documents held in the archives at Douai Abbey in Berkshire. The letter provides some insights into his views at the time. After brief pleasantries, he addresses the subject at hand. ‘I hardly think that the work you write of will suit me,’ he writes sharply. ‘To begin with I could not leave my work here easily until next spring or summer, of course you want someone earlier.’24 But timing was the least of Reynolds’s obstacles to the plan. He agreed that the Christian faith could help to cure social ills, but did not think Green was being radical enough. ‘I feel very strongly that the religious life is absolutely necessary to restore England to Christ, but I feel that what is wanted at the present time is not an adaptation of monastic life, but the old life as we have it set out in the rule of St Benedict and nothing short of that. At least that is what I should like for myself.’

         Reynolds was a purist. ‘My own belief is that men must become religious, that is the first and greatest part of their life, and then work will grow out of their life,’ he wrote. ‘They must come together to lead a particular life and not to do a particular work.’ Having so forcefully expressed his opinions, he remembers he is writing to a man he has not met before. ‘Will you forgive an entire stranger for writing to you in such a fashion as I have done?’ concludes the missive, written by hand over three small pages. ‘Kindly treat this letter in confidence.’

         Still a month shy of his twenty-fifth birthday, Reynolds was confident enough to write such letters to far more experienced figures in the Christian community. Green’s plan was not for him, but his reference to wanting to live the ‘old life’ shows how he was already looking beyond his work as a curate at St Hilda’s.

         He remained at Darlington another year until moving in 1898 to the parish of St Alban’s in Sneinton, Nottingham, again as a curate. During this period both churches were involved in controversies over ‘high’ Anglicanism.25 Reynolds, brought up an Anglo-Catholic, was used to religious practices with which some Church of England congregations were not comfortable. The young curate may not have played a leading role in the controversy, but he was unable to cure the tension. It was the clearest harbinger yet of his future conversion to Catholicism.

         The controversies echoed a similar situation that occurred around the same time in the family home in Bromley, which Reynolds had left behind. In 1896, Dorothy Mousley, the orphaned daughter of Frederick Reynolds’s sister, Polly, went to live with the Reynolds family. During her studies she became greatly attracted by Roman Catholicism and wrote to a Franciscan friar to seek advice. At this point Frederick, afraid his daughters would be swayed by such views, sent Dorothy to a family in Wales to cure her of her ‘popish leanings’.26 Though Frederick brought his children up as Anglo-Catholics, indicating some sympathy with the church of Rome, he firmly wished them to remain within the Anglican church. But the damage, as Frederick saw it, was done. All five of his children later converted to Catholicism. Leslie and Ronald, both of whom were active in Catholic social work in London, took the step in 1904, while Rothay and his sisters followed at intervals in subsequent years.27

         Reynolds grew increasingly restive during his time as a curate with the two northern churches. His slim build and Cambridge-bred aura of intelligence belied a restless nature and a constant search for new opportunities. He was a young man utterly committed to his faith, which he viewed as the ‘first and greatest part’ of his life, and his correspondence with Green demonstrates how he was not afraid to speak out. But he found the narrow, procedural debate over Church of England practices incredibly stifling. It was just a distraction getting in the way of the real purpose of religion as he saw it: the transformation of society from the ground up. His idea to achieve this was a rebirth of monasticism, with men coming together to live the simple life as set out by Benedict, an Italian saint born in the fifth century. The debates within Christianity before and after the reformation would disappear, Reynolds thought, if the religion reverted to its early roots.

         This led, as the letter to Reverend Green suggests, to Reynolds almost becoming a monk himself. In this period he travelled throughout Britain forging close and lasting links with monastic orders, in particular the Benedictines. Records remain of his visit to monks at Milton Abbas in Dorset in the summer of 1899 and Caldey Island, off the coast of Wales, in 1901. Reynolds stayed on the island for a week, saying Mass each day in Latin. He was moving closer, month-by-month, to taking up the monk’s life for good.

         There was one order of monks to which he was especially close. Seventy miles south of Darlington, in Painsthorpe, Yorkshire, dwelt a group of Anglo-Catholic monks led by Abbot Aelred Carlyle. This band of Benedictine monks had been a leading Anglo-Catholic community and emphasised the Catholic heritage of the Anglican Church.28 They had been the first Benedictine monastic order accepted into the Church of England. But times were difficult. The monks were under pressure over the question of how smoothly their Anglo-Catholicism fitted within Anglicanism. In 1913 the dam broke and they were received into the Roman Catholic faith.

         The order’s struggle over the question mirrors the internal conflict faced by Reynolds, who was closely connected to the group. One contribution he made to the Painsthorpe monks stands out. In 1904 he played an instrumental role in founding Pax, a new quarterly magazine for their community that is still produced today. Reynolds was thirty-two at the time and it was the first time he had been published.

         Some years later, Carlyle’s monks – who were to settle permanently at Prinknash Abbey in Gloucestershire in 1928, where they remain today – discovered the anonymous editorial in the first issue of Pax was authored by Reynolds. The article demonstrates the affection Reynolds felt for the order and his closeness to it. ‘The community, now living at Painsthorpe, has been in existence for more than ten years, and its circle of friends is continually increasing,’ he wrote. ‘The difficulty of keeping in touch with so many is great, and we have come to the point reached by so many communities, when a magazine becomes a necessity.’

         Reynolds then turned to Benedict, the patron saint of Europe who inspired the founding of the order, and explained why the magazine had been named after the Latin word for peace. ‘St Benedict is, above all, the Saint who proclaimed Christ’s message of peace in an age of unrest and social upheaval,’ he wrote. ‘The title given to the present publication is not, then, due to fancy or caprice, but has been adopted because it represents the spirit which those fighting under the rule of St Benedict desire to cultivate in themselves and to propagate among others.’

         Reynolds was a campaigning Christian – which would prove important during his time in Nazi Germany. He believed religion could cure social ills. To him, monks of the order were not living but ‘fighting’ under the rule of St Benedict. ‘We have spoken of fighting, and with reason, for the Christian paradox must never be forgotten, that peace comes through war,’ he wrote. ‘It was after the din of battle that the St Benedict emerged the Saint of the Placid Countenance.’

         ‘Alfred Rothay Reynolds was a great friend of the Prinknash Community in the early years of the twentieth century’, according to Aelred Baker, who serves as archivist for the order. In the decades that followed, Reynolds found time to write several articles for Pax on subjects ranging from Russia’s ‘Festival of Summer’ in 1916 to ‘Poles at Prayer’ in 1939. Such was his closeness to Carlyle’s order of monks that he seriously considered joining them and pursuing a monastic life. But he never followed through on promises to do so, retreating for the third and final time in July 1902. A monk’s life of seclusion and contemplation was not for Reynolds. Faith was central to his life but the outside world was just too interesting. Reynolds was not forgotten by Carlyle’s order, which regards him highly over a century later. He remembered them in his will, leaving his collection of books to the order.

         The years after university were busy for Reynolds. Even in the midst of his time serving English churches and communing with monks he found the time to return to Cambridge and obtain a Master’s degree in 1901. He lasted longer in Nottingham than Darlington but the two churches and his monastic diversions could not sate his yearning for new experiences. He visited Carlyle’s order again in August 1904 before leaving quietly. Planning was well-advanced for his next religious appointment, one that few people could have anticipated. He left his position with the church in Nottingham and agreed to relocate to the Russia of Tsar Nicholas II. He moved to St Petersburg in 1904 as an assistant chaplain to the Anglican church attached to the British Embassy. Still feeling unready to serve as a priest, moving to such an exotic location offered him the new opportunities in languages and culture that he craved. It was a decision that would change his life forever. His years in Russia would prove decisive to the restive curate’s future course.

      

   


   
      

         
            - CHAPTER II -

            LAND OF THE TSARS

         

         Standing as dusk falls in the centre of St Petersburg’s Dvortsovaya Ploshchad – Palace Square – is a strangely paradoxical experience. It is remarkable because of the awe-inspiring scale and impressive grandeur of the Winter Palace, which dominates the open space before it. Yet it is also unsettling – mainly because the people are missing. As a landmark it is comparable to Trafalgar Square in London or St Peter’s Square in Rome, yet those places would be filled with tourists. St Petersburg has the attractions to compete with those tourist hubs, but recent events had led to a sharp fall in visitors when I travelled to the city in October 2014.

         I landed almost 110 years to the day after Reynolds’s first arrival in Russia. My trip was easier than his. While Reynolds faced a long journey over land and sea, the ease of modern air travel meant I could fly from London to St Petersburg in under four hours. There were similarities, though, in the political situation. Vladimir Putin’s decision to annex the Crimean region and covertly spread unrest in Ukraine had sent relations plunging to Cold War levels a few months before my arrival.

         It meant the atmosphere of uneasy relations between Russia and the West was comparable to when Reynolds arrived. At the start of the twentieth century, Russia and Britain were far from the best of international friends. Russia was seen as a mysterious land peopled by strange and rather untrustworthy souls. This situation improved with the Anglo-Russian entente of 1907, and again when the two countries were allies in the First World War. But when Reynolds arrived in 1904, such comradeship would have felt an extremely distant notion.

         St Petersburg was founded early in the eighteenth century by Peter the Great, one of the most important leaders in Russia’s history. He was a close follower of the West’s traditions and fashions and St Petersburg is known as Russia’s ‘window on the west’ for being its city most open to non-Russian influences. But with its onion domes and Cyrillic symbols, St Petersburg felt an alien place to English travellers at the beginning of the twentieth century – and it felt that way even in the twenty-first.
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               The Winter Palace in St Petersburg, home to Russia’s royal family until the 1917 revolution. (Photograph by the author)

            

         

         Reynolds would have disapproved of the timing of my trip. He thought the country was ‘detestable in Autumn’ because of the cold and grey weather, which was suitably drab on my visit. St Petersburg boasts some amazing sights, none more so than the Winter Palace, but is a disorienting place for a non-Russian speaker. On one occasion I stood outside Kazan Cathedral as worshippers streamed out after a service. Steady rain fell as a saxophonist busked in the shadow of the formidable ninety-six-column colonnade. A remote-controlled drone flew high above. It felt an immensely strange atmosphere – the modern-day equivalent of the disorientation Reynolds may have experienced as he settled into Russian life.
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               The Church of the Savior on Spilled Blood was built on the site of Emperor Alexander II’s assassination in 1881. It was completed while Reynolds was living in Russia. (Photograph by the author)

            

         

         His decision to move there in 1904, at the age of thirty-two, was a move of extraordinary bravery, driven by his desire for new experiences and challenges (and learning the language was certainly that, even for a linguist like him). He grew to love the city and developed an affinity for Russia and its people that led him later to write two books about the country. Reynolds’s religious ardour was also an important factor in his decision to move. His posting as assistant chaplain to the British Embassy church was the perfect way for him to experience Russian culture. Religion exerted a heavy influence on life in the country he now called home. As soon as he arrived he was struck by how religion ‘forces itself on the attention’ in Russia.29 ‘God and His Mother, saints and angels, seem near; men rejoice or stand ashamed beneath their gaze,’ he admiringly wrote. ‘The people of the land have made it a vast sanctuary, perfumed with prayer and filled with the memories of heroes of the faith. Saints and sinners, believers and infidels, are affected by its atmosphere.’30

         If religion was the first thing Reynolds observed in St Petersburg, the city’s scale and distinctive character was a close second. He was mesmerised and said it was ‘a magnificent city, magical in the grip of winter, detestable in autumn, alluring in the spring-time. Its streets are broad, its squares and open places large, the size of its palaces and public buildings makes them imposing even when their architecture is poor.’ His imagination was particularly fired by the cathedral spire within the Fortress of St Peter and St Paul: a ‘tapering pillar of gold, rising high above the tower’. At sunset it becomes a ‘shaft of flame’, he wrote.31

         Reynolds did not enjoy his living quarters, a city centre flat in a barracks surrounding two large courtyards. ‘Nobody ever loved a flat,’ he remarked dismissively.32 But he enthusiastically involved himself in Russian culture and life. He learned to speak the language fluently and was impressed by the mother tongue of his new home country. ‘Russian is soft and melodious, and hard and nasal sounds, which remain in Polish, a language bearing a close resemblance to it, have been almost entirely eliminated.’33

         He arrived in Russia during the early stages of a tumultuous revolutionary period, which culminated in the Bolshevik Revolution and execution of the Tsar and his family in 1918. Few would have predicted such momentous events when Reynolds arrived in 1904, but signs of turbulence were growing. Chief among the country’s problems was the countryside, where years of poor agricultural policy had fuelled discontent among the peasantry. Politically, Tsar Nicholas II – the cousin of George V, to whom he bore a strong physical resemblance – ruled autocratically without a Parliament. He showed little appetite for change or reform despite his ‘Father of the Nation’ epithet. Minorities including Catholics and Jews were subjugated, while harsh ‘Russification’ policies incensed the Finns, who revolted at the forced imposition of the Russian language and disbandment of Finland’s army. Overseas, increasingly tense relations with Japan ignited in February 1904 when Russia’s Pacific fleet was targeted by a surprise attack in Port Arthur, which eventually fell to the Japanese the following January.34

         These pressures combined to trigger the revolution of 1905, a bout of unrest that put Nicholas II’s rule under unprecedented pressure. The fall of Port Arthur sparked demonstrations in the capital, and a petition signed by 135,000 people seeking better working conditions and wages was delivered to the Winter Palace. But the peaceful protestors were met not by concessions but rifle fire. On the ‘Bloody Sunday’ of 22 January 1905 more than a hundred were killed, causing outrage throughout the Russian Empire and beyond. Intermittent strikes and unrest in the cities and countryside grew in the ensuing months, leading to Nicholas II’s ‘October Manifesto’, which promised a new State Parliament or ‘Duma’. Its arrival appeared to usher in a constitutional monarchy, but within months many of the concessions had been reversed.

         The year 1905 was significant for Reynolds personally, as well as for Russia. It was the year of his conversion to Catholicism, which, though years in the making, remained an important personal event. Diving into his new life in Russia had been an exciting and energising experience, but it had caused him to question deeply his Anglicanism. He loved the rich tone of religious life in Russia, which was ‘perfumed with prayer’ in a way the staid Church of England was most certainly not. Russians were devoted to the Eastern Orthodox faith, which regards Constantinople (Istanbul) and not Rome as its spiritual home. The experiences nonetheless elevated the Catholicism that had lain dormant within him.

         Russia was not a uniformly welcoming place for followers of the Catholic faith when Reynolds arrived. Nicholas II, having inherited the throne from his father Alexander in 1894, continued the old policy of hostility towards the Catholic church. Symptomatic of this were his ‘Russification policies’ towards Catholic Poland and other countries within the Russian sphere of influence, which he tried to make ‘Orthodox minions’.35 However, the first Russian revolution in 1905 led to his decision to issue a decree of religious toleration that allowed Catholics more freedom to practise their faith. It was in this environment that Reynolds, after years of painful internal contemplation, finally decided to follow his brothers and convert to the Catholic church. For the remaining years of his life in Russia he worshipped happily at the Catholic Church of St Catherine in the heart of St Petersburg.

         More everyday matters pressed. Reynolds’s departure from the English church left him in need of a new source of income. He was inspired by his new life in Russia and had no desire to return to Britain so soon. Realising how interesting the events of 1905, and the accompanying political and social changes afoot in Russia, were to people back in Britain, he sought work as a writer and won his first job in journalism as St Petersburg correspondent for the Daily News. The newspaper, which is no longer printed, launched in Britain in 1846 under the editorship of Charles Dickens. It was positioned as a liberal alternative to The Times and enjoyed a successful period of increasing sales and influence in the early twentieth century under the editorship of the young and dynamic Alfred George Gardiner.36

         During those fevered months of violent upheaval in 1905, when an incendiary public mood led to industrial and political upheaval, Reynolds’s reporting instincts were stirred as never before. He had the journalistic luck to be living in a city undergoing great change and was never far from a potential story or situation of interest. He was well aware he was living through historic times, in which the lower orders were politicised by events as never before. ‘The echoes of heated political debate used to float to me from the kitchen,’ he wrote, ‘especially on those days when the washerwoman took tea there and added the weight of her influence to the arguments of the cook.’37

         In short, St Petersburg at that time was an ideal place to be a foreign correspondent. Reynolds took to it quickly. Within a couple of years in Russia he was able to gain access to events at which more seasoned foreign correspondents were expected, including the first meeting of the new Duma in April 1906. Reynolds described the fevered atmosphere of the revolutionary era in dramatic terms. ‘What a chance for a revolutionist to blow up the whole lot of them!’ he recalled a friend saying during a party attended by Prime Minister Pyotr Stolypin and other leading politicians.38 The febrile environment in St Petersburg meant newsworthy events seemed to come his way with regularity. He rarely had to look for them. ‘A bomb has just gone off in the street,’ Reynolds wrote on one occasion, as if such an event outside his flat was an everyday occurrence.39 One evening Reynolds was present during an incident in a restaurant when a student was murdered after an argument sparked by his refusal to stand during the national anthem.40

         Reynolds’s pieces for the Daily News provided vivid portraits of life in revolutionary Russia. In 1906, for one of his first articles, he interviewed a nineteen-year-old woman, Nadejda, about her participation in the revolution. ‘It is going very badly,’ she told Reynolds, ‘and numbers of revolutionists are in prison. I see in the paper today that a great friend of mine has been arrested. She had thrown a bomb at one of the enemies of the people, and had not time to shoot herself when her work was done.’41
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         The revolution was a time of personal as well as professional opportunity for Reynolds – in its fires he forged the closest friendship of his life. In September 1904, the English writer Hector Hugh Munro, better known by the pen-name of ‘Saki’, arrived in St Petersburg as a correspondent for the right-wing Morning Post newspaper. The two men were of similar age and enjoyed similar pursuits; like Reynolds, Munro was a keen swimmer and tennis player. As two members of a limited pool of foreign correspondents working in St Petersburg, who arrived at a similar time, their friendship is not surprising.

         Munro differed from Reynolds in one key respect. He was no fledgling journalist but an emerging author, whose short stories parodied the upper classes of Edwardian England. While in Russia he split his time between reporting on the country and developing his own fictional works. His writing style was informed by figures such as Oscar Wilde and Lewis Carroll, and Munro in turn was an influence on comic writers of the next generation, such as A. A. Milne, Noël Coward and P. G. Wodehouse.42 Munro had yet to achieve that level of fame while working as a foreign correspondent, his foremost years of prominence beginning on his return to Britain in 1909.

         During the revolution of 1905, Munro’s sister Ethel was visiting him in St Petersburg and she was present for the drama and carnage of Bloody Sunday. The protest was led by Father Georgy Gapon, a Ukrainian priest in the Russian Orthodox church, who had discovered socialism after the death of his wife. His speeches persuaded masses of Russia’s industrial workforce to strike and on Sunday 9 January (the twenty-second by Western calendars) he delivered a petition to the gates of the Winter Palace setting out their demands. Hector and Ethel Munro took up a position in the Hotel de France, located in the heart of the city, to observe proceedings.43  It was not long before Hector had left his sister and ventured outside for a closer look; and not long again before he was chased back, having become part of a Russian crowd beaten away from the Winter Palace by cavalry forces. Having then sought a different vantage point, the Munros narrowly avoided death as they came under rifle fire. The assault had started. The next day Munro hired a sleigh to witness the aftermath and saw the many corpses that remained strewn on the icy streets. It was macabre work, but necessary to inform his dispatches.

         Compared to the events of the seismic Bolshevik Revolution that followed twelve years later, the ‘revolution’ of 1905 seems relatively insignificant in impact. But it was not a minor event for Russians living through it. An urban uprising in the country’s capital had led to soldiers firing on their countrymen, a tragic indictment of the rule of Tsar Nicholas II. He may not have shot any bullets that day, but he was the military’s leader and the events contradicted his ‘Father of the People’ image. Changes to the country’s political, religious and agrarian spheres followed.

         What did Reynolds make of it all? Though he stayed at the National Liberal Club while in London, he had a diverse mix of political views. He was a monarchist, supporting Nicholas II and the reforms undertaken during his time in Russia. Reynolds did not condemn the violence of Bloody Sunday. ‘The Russian Government cannot be condemned for using severe measures to restore order in the country,’ he wrote.44 He observed Tsar Nicholas II’s rule in a traditional sense. ‘In Russian theory the emperor has a double part to play. He is autocrat and he is also father of his people.’45 Reynolds’s favourable view of the Tsar endured, as this admiring passage near the end of his time in Russia shows: ‘When [Nicholas II] went to Poltava in 1909 to celebrate the two hundredth anniversary of Peter the Great’s victory over the Swedes, [he] refused to listen to the advice of the police, and strolled about chatting with peasants. His homes at Peterhof and Tsarskoe Selo are small country houses, and the splendid palaces in both places stand empty.’46 It is admiring fluff rather than critical journalism.

         The reforms started in 1905 partly explain Reynolds’s support for a monarch whose appeal to liberals was damaged by the violence of that year. He approved of the Tsar’s manifesto in April 1905 in which he apparently renounced his authority over the religious lives of his subjects. The new policy of increased tolerance towards faiths other than the Orthodox church was a liberal move, chiming with Reynolds’s political sentiment. The personal implications for him as a Catholic convert were of great importance too. And it paid off for the Tsar, or so Reynolds thought. ‘When Nicholas II, on his own initiative, adopted a policy of toleration, a conservative newspaper of Moscow declared that his manifesto had destroyed the Orthodox Church,’ he wrote. ‘These fears have proved to be groundless. The manifesto has given new life to the church.’47

         In politics the progress was more limited. While Reynolds supported the inauguration of the new Russian Parliament, he was well aware of how Nicholas II had ensured the Duma would pose no threat to his power. It did not take long for the Tsar’s old habits to reappear. In the summer of 1908 Reynolds visited a prison in Moscow to speak to Sergey Muromtsev, the president of the first Duma, and eleven other members of Parliament who had been incarcerated. After his visit he reflected on how legal rights in Russia differed from Britain. ‘The elementary safeguards of liberty are wanting.’48

         Though political liberty was in short supply, Reynolds found Russian society to be less fusty and rule-bound than his homeland. ‘I did not understand what liberty is until I left England and lived in Russia,’ he wrote. A man ‘is not considered dirty because he has been too lazy to shave, nor ill-mannered if he be unpunctual, nor eccentric if he goes into the stalls of a theatre in a check suit.’49 

         It seems unlikely Reynolds partook of those particular freedoms. He was clean-shaven and – crucially, for a journalist – had no reputation for missing deadlines. Furthermore, he took his tailoring extremely seriously. His brother Ronald once described him as ‘Europe’s best dressed correspondent’.50 Despite apparently admiring Russia’s social freedoms and its people, Reynolds was a man of standards, and in several ways the country disappointed him. Russian cuisine fell short of acceptable in his judgement. ‘I have been to dinner-parties in Petrograd at which the food was dull and the conversation enthralling,’ he wrote. ‘The reverse is so often the case in London.’51 Reynolds, who was able to combine a strong interest in gastronomy with a slim figure, was also accustomed to certain levels of service. ‘It is a matter of uncertainty whether it will occur to anybody to bring one shaving water in the morning,’ he wrote during an account of life at a country house, seemingly without irony.52

         Reynolds spent most of his thirties in Russia, leaving in 1910 at the age of thirty-eight. Entering middle-age, he was established in a second career and had acquired specialist knowledge of Russia that would prove of great benefit on his return to London. He remained a bachelor, a status his time abroad does not seem to have come close to changing. But Reynolds was no loner. His ability to make friends from all walks of life was frequently commented on and his time in Russia had added a new set, most notably Munro. His spell abroad had also established him as a traveller, which would remain the case until his death. Did he regret the nomadic path on which he had embarked? There is a hint of melancholy in the following passage about Reynolds’s visit to a countryside acquaintance in Eastern Europe: ‘When I left Ivan’s home there was a tinge of envy in my heart. Its simplicity was imposing. I was a wanderer; Ivan had his castle, standing in the midst of fields which were his own and would pass to his children.’53
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